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Multiple Interviewers, Rick Thomas


[0:00:00]

Interviewer:
Today is Mary 24th,, 1979.  This is Rae Ann Kremer and Carol Low with Metropolitan Interfaith Association on a grant for the Tennessee Committee for the Humanities, doing the Vollintine-Evergreen Neighborhood and Public Policy Project.  We are interviewing Dr. – Dr.?  Not doctor.  Rick Thomas.  Is it Richard?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, Richard.  Rick.

Interviewer:
Okay, Richard K., Rick Thomas, a professor of sociology at Southwestern of Memphis.  Could you tell us how you got to Southwestern, and when you came to Memphis?

Rick Thomas:
Well, I’m one of the few people that was born in Memphis, and, in fact, I first lived about six blocks from here.

Interviewer:
Where?

Rick Thomas:
At Jackson and Evergreen.

Interviewer:
Oh.

[0:01:00]

in a home?

Rick Thomas:
Right.  My grandparents build their house there in the 1920s, and I lived in a duplex with my parents and my grandparents.

Interviewer:
What was that address and what were your grandparents’ names?
Rick Thomas:
The address was 863 North Evergreen, and it was Fred and Bessie Thomas.  And they built the first house on that block.  And just as an aside, many people who live here have had relative and ancestors who lived there.  It’s kind of a certain a certain amount of continuity.  It’s amazing how many you can find whose parents or grandparents lived here and they’ve been away for a while, have come back to the neighborhood.  And since that time, except for, oh, the time between when I was, say, 8 till 18, when I lived in Southeast –
[0:02:00]

Memphis, I’ve lived in the neighborhood.  I came back here to go to Southwestern, and lived in various places around the neighborhood at that time, including with my grandparents, and have lived in this area ever since, probably in about eight different locations.
Interviewer:
Where do you live now?

Rick Thomas:
At 1816 Monticello Drive, down in Volintine and Mclean, that area.
Interviewer:
And you own your own house.

Rick Thomas:
Right.  
Interviewer:
How long have you lived there?

Rick Thomas:
Five years.

Interviewer:
Well, so you’ve seen this neighborhood for many, many years.

Rick Thomas:
Right.

Interviewer:
And would love to hear, especially since you’re a sociologist, your view of the neighborhood and the changes that have taken place.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  It’s kind of not something you can say in a few words, but I’ll give you some idea of my impression of it.  Obviously, the two biggest changes –
[0:03:00]

that have taken place are in the racial, characteristics and maybe in a broader term than “racial” should be used, but the ethnic characteristic of the population.  And then the second area of change is in the age composition.  As far back as I can remember, this has been a neighborhood dominated by older people, many of them of foreign stock, from European ethnic backgrounds and so forth.  And this was partly caused by the fact that Baron Hirsch Synagogue is in the neighborhood, and there’s a large number of Polish and Russian Jews who live in the neighborhood.  And, also, this was the last section of the city that had any remnants of the fairly large foreign population that Memphis once had.  For example, Little Flower Catholic Church was built in the ’50s to –
[0:04:00]

cater to the Italian-American community, and its first several priests were Italians, or at least of Italian ancestry.  So –
Interviewer:
Were there any other ethnic groups besides those two that –?

Rick Thomas:
Well, probably there were quite a few Greeks that lived in the neighborhood.  There was a Greek Orthodox church on North Parkway, outside the boundaries, but fairly close by.  And –
Interviewer:
When did the Greek population move in?  Do you remember?  
Rick Thomas:
I think around 1900, they moved into Memphis, and then this neighborhood was kinda one of the ones that they marched through as they were becoming disseminated or distributed throughout the city.  And, of course, this woulda been probably around 1920 when this Greek Orthodox church was built on North Parkway.  So anyhow –
[0:05:00]

you can see the Bosie Grocery Store down there – 
Interviewer:
We spoke to Mr. Bosie yesterday.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  And Markasey Cleaners used to be down there and Carl’s Bakery.  He’s a Greek guy, Carl Koppias.  And –
Interviewer:
Do you know how to spell that last name?

Rick Thomas:
I think it’s K-O-P-P-I-A-S.  And so that was for someone living in Memphis, I had the rare opportunity of going out in my front yard and hear people talk in Yiddish or Russian, which for most people in Memphis couldn’t be found anywhere.  But there was right in the neighborhood.  And so I think a remember this diversity and this kind of old-world charm to it.  And as I say, it was a fairly old neighborhood.  Many of the people were my grandparents’ age.  And in 1970, I think, fully 25 percent of the – 

[0:06:00]

population were females over 65 or over, 25 percent.
Interviewer:
Did you do a survey –
Rick Thomas:
This is based on census data, and it doesn’t include all of the neighborhood because the census boundaries don’t really coincide with the neighborhood boundaries.

Interviewer:
Where are the census boundaries here?  Which tract are we talking about?

Rick Thomas:
Okay, we’re talking primarily around Tract – _____.  I just _____.

[Break in Audio]

Primarily Census Track 17 –
Interviewer:
All right.  That’s bounded by –
Rick Thomas:
Well, it’s Watkins on the –
Interviewer:
West.

Rick Thomas:
– which is our neighborhood boundary.  Vollintine on the north, Mclain, and the North Parkway.  But we’re also talking about –
Interviewer:
Part of 16th.

Rick Thomas:
– part of 16th which Southwestern is in 16.

Interviewer:
It goes to Tresben.

Rick Thomas:
Right, to Tresben, which was roughly our eastern boundary.
Interviewer:
But then it goes –
[0:07:00]

much further south than North Parkway.  It goes all the way to Poplar and 16.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, 16 does, right.  And we typically think of our southern boundary as being, say, the interstate right-of-way, somewhere along there it seemed to be a pretty good breaking point because the gap in the houses and so forth.  And there are a lot of people right across North Parkway that are faculty members of Southwestern or people active in the Evergreen Presbyterian Church, Mclain Baptist, so –
Interviewer:
We have another team that’s doing that as a history, but they really are very much involved with each other.
Rick Thomas:
Right.  I never felt that there was any need to fight over turf.  And I don’t think anybody’s ever really considered that.  So we just kinda let ’em overlap then.

Interviewer:
So we’re really talking about Census Track 18 and a little bit – I mean, Census Track 17 and a little bit of 16, or half of 16.

Rick Thomas:
And, also, half of seven.

Interviewer:
Half of seven?

Rick Thomas:
Right.

[0:08:00]

Okay?

Interviewer:
’Cause you go further north than Vollintine.

Rick Thomas:
Right.  Cypress Creek is really the – which kinda wiggles around like that.  It’s kinda the northern boundary, at least our extension northern boundary.  And I, of course, live north of Vollintine, so I’m in that census directory.
Interviewer:
Well, it’s interesting that you do – we’ve talked to several people in VECA who say, well, they really just go to Brown, but you really go to the creek.

Rick Thomas:
Brown is the last street before the creek, so that’s probably what – that’s the list street with houses on it.  I guess that’s what they’re thinking, probably.

Interviewer:
And, of course, that includes Cypress Junior High?


[Crosstalk]

Rick Thomas:
Well, I think Cypress Junior High – well, the creek runs right beside it.  I’m not sure which side of –
Interviewer:
It’s on the south of the creek, so it really –
Rick Thomas:
Right, right.

Interviewer:
And isn’t that partly a neighborhood school, too?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, except that it seems to draw –
[0:09:00]

much more its students from this side of the school than from this side, which brings us back to the other factor I was pointing out with the age composition that we’ve gone through a period, say, starting in the late ‘60s, and up to now where we had a really _____ of school-age children where there was this period where much of the population was very old.  Their children were grown and so forth, and only I’d say in the last five years has there been kind of a restocking of the neighborhood with younger families who now have children.  And so I think the age composition has been the biggest change.  As I say, in ’70, it was 25 percent elderly widows.  And since then, the number of school children must have multiplied several times.

Interviewer:
All right.  Now those people moving in, are they of both races, or there more blacks than whites moving in since ’70?

[0:10:00]

Rick Thomas:
Well, as far as the proportion in the neighborhood, the best I can estimate in 1970, about five percent of the households within the boundaries that we’ve set up were black.  Today, I would say about a third are black.  So as far as the net increase, it’s been mostly in black families through this time period.  But the number of white families that’s moved in has remained quite high.  In fact, we have had the unusual situation where houses have been bought by black residents and then when they were sold, were bought by white residents, gone from white to black to white.
Interviewer:
Do you have any figures on that?

Rick Thomas:
No, no.  I can just think of two or three examples off hand, and a few other people in a _____.  But I think on the street I’m on, Monticello, it bisects Rainbow Circle.

[0:11:00]

And I think there are a couple of houses on Rainbow that have been in that situation.  Particularly, I guess up here in the area north of Vollintine is where that’s happened most frequent because most of the – unfortunately or fortunately, as the case may be, most of the black population has been concentrated in the northwest sector.  And it hasn’t been spread evenly throughout.  Things have probably run a lot more smoothly if the integration were taking place at a more even distribution throughout the neighborhood.
Interviewer:
Do you have any reason for that?  I mean, can you account for why that particular – where more homes sold at that time, or was there some other factor?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, there are several factors, and I think they’re all pretty traditional explanations for this sorta thing.  One is that this was the area closest to established neighborhoods, and although –
Interviewer:
What is the established black neighborhood?

[0:12:00]

Rick Thomas:
Well, this North Memphis area, about down by north side.  I really don’t know that it’s got a name, but to the northwest of here.  And at night now, one thing that’s important to notice that not that these people came from that area.  Most of the blacks to moved in the neighborhood have not come from adjacent black areas, but they’ve come from other parts of town, or many of ’em come out of town _____.  But the fact that these houses were closest to them existing black neighborhoods made it a little bit easier I suppose for them to “invade,” is the term that’s used in ecology.  Another factor was that the houses in that northwest sector were a little cheaper.  They were less expensive.

Interviewer:
What price range were they, or are they?

Rick Thomas:
Well, we’re talking probably about houses in the –
[0:13:00]

early ’70s that were selling say around $20,000.00, and –
Interviewer:
And right now, what would they be selling for?

Rick Thomas:
It’s really hard to say.  There are some people who can tell you exactly what they’re selling for, but I’m assuming that they’ve gone up maybe not proportionate to the rest of the neighborhood, but I’m sure that they sold for $20,000.00 in the ’70s.  They’re probably selling for ‘$30,000.00 now.  That’s one –
Interviewer:
Are these, what, three-bedroom homes?

Rick Thomas:
Well, these are probably two- and- three bedroom homes.  They were built a little bit later than most of the houses in the neighborhood.  The typical house in the neighborhood was built in the ‘20s or ‘30s.  And we’re talking about say ‘40s are ’50s being at _____.  So they’re not as good, as well constructed and they’re not as spacious as the houses further south.
Interviewer:
About how many square feet are we talking about?

[0:14:00]


Rick Thomas:
Well, I don’t know how many’s in typical house.

Interviewer:
Well, okay.
Rick Thomas:
But by contemporary standards, we’re still talking about a fairly good-sized house.  But one third of – at first, we had the proximity to the black neighborhoods, and the second, the less expensive housing.  Third in the northern portion, we had the concentration of Jewish population, and this was one of the things that kinda prompted those racial turnover is an out flux to suburban areas of this population that traditionally lived around Baron Hirsch with the building of the new synagogues in the suburban area and so forth.  There was –
Interviewer:
Do you think the building _____ out in _____ – what’s that called Rich Bryer prompted the move?  I’m trying to think of when that synagogue opened, but it was probably right around then.

Rick Thomas:
I don’t think it was the attraction –
[0:15:00]

of a synagogue, because people who attend Baron Hirsch are different from people who attend the other synagogues.  Me that was moving away still to attend Baron Hirsch.  And, in fact, we had the kinda unusual situation where they keep scabbath homes.  I forget – was there a Yiddish word for that?

Interviewer:
Shabbos?  
Rick Thomas:
Yeah, I guess so.  And many of them come and spend Friday night at these homes so they can walk to church to the synagogue _____.

Interviewer:
Is that still true?  Do they still –
Rick Thomas:
Yeah, mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
About how many do you think would have that?

Rick Thomas:
Well, we’re probably now talking but maybe 20 or 30 or something like that.

Interviewer:
Oh, that many.  That’s a lot.

Rick Thomas:
Well, we’re talking about 300 families, I think it is that _____ 2 out of 500 families that are affiliated with Baron Hirsch.  I’ve got those figure somewhere, but –
Interviewer:
We got them in their history, and I think it was 700 and some odd now.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Could be.  Could be.
[0:16:00]

Well, we’re talking about several thousand people, anyhow, and I’m just guessing 20 or 30 probably have homes like that.  But that was one of the things that opened up homes.  And these turned out to be the more expensive homes that were available in this, during the late ‘60s and early ’70s.  And a lot of professional blacks moved in, architects and upper middle class _____ in that area.
Female 1:
Okay.  Do you feel that, say, Baron Hirsch has land out east, and their Sunday school is out east.  If that synagogue should sell, will that have an effect on the neighborhood?

Rick Thomas:
Well, it’s bound to have some type of adverse effect on it I would think because many of the churches – people affiliated with the Snowden had been active –
[0:17:00]

in the community and are supporters, if only indirectly of the neighborhood organization and so forth.  However, I think it woulda been a much more crucial loss four or five years ago when things were kind of hanging in the balance as far as the racial turnover when and the white flight and so forth.  Since then, I think the influx of young while families and also fairly young black families as well have given a certain stability and vitality to the community that would kind of offset the loss of Baron Hirsch.
Interviewer:
Do you have any idea about why there are more young white families moving in now than there were four or five years ago?

Rick Thomas:
Well, I think the reason has varied from year to year.  Really as ’73 and ’74, I guess, you could hear people claim that they were moving to the neighborhood because of the quality –
[0:18:00]

of the Vollintine and Snowden Schools.  That late.  And today, I’m not sure if this is the case.  But certainly it was the case four or five years ago.  Another more recent reason, after VECA really had it going was the fact that they wanted to live in a biracial neighborhood and people would come out and say, “Well, we want our children to grow up in a biracial neighborhood, or we feel it’s the right thing to do live in an integrated neighborhood, and this is the only one that we know of.  And that was a factor.  And then the last three or four years, I think the housing situation has really caused a lot of people to move in.  Many of the people who woulda moved in the Central Gardens district got shut out because that kinda filled up rather quickly with people moving in to renovate it.  So this kinda became a second choice, I think.  
[0:19:00]

And so a lot of young professional types moved in here, and you can see it reflected in some of the renovation that’s taken place.
Interviewer:
Well, now you had mentioned blockbusting earlier.  Was there actually some of that going on, and how was it handled?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  I think the most overt attempts at blockbusting took place when the racial turnover was first occurring.

Interviewer:
When was that?

Rick Thomas:
Oh, I’d say in the last ‘60s and early ’70s.  So probably ’69, ’70, and ’71.  And there were people who were actually going – real estate representatives who were going from door to door suggesting that blacks or other undesirables were getting ready to move in down the street, and offering to buy people’s homes or encouraging them to sell.  They were all distributing leaflets in the mailboxes and so forth –
[0:20:00]

Interviewer:
You don’t happen to have any samples of those do you?

Rick Thomas:
No, but I’m sure there other people who worked with the real estate committee that do.

Interviewer:
Who would some of those people be that we could contact?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Two best resources in this area are Jose Sohm, S-O-H-M, who’s a real estate agent who lives on Sheridan, I believe it is, and he specializes in real estate in the neighborhood.  He works for Palmer Brothers.  He sells all over town, obviously.  But this is his pit area, and he really works it.  Many of these that have moved in have been because of his hustling them, so to speak.  Okay?  And the other person is Joe Hough, H-O-U-G-H, who’s a real estate appraiser.  And he does – while he doesn’t deal in houses in the neighborhood, he’s very much up on property values and trends and residential usage and so forth.  So he knows that –
[0:21:00]

pretty well.  So those are two.  They were on the real estate committee when the blockbusting was taking place, and they were actually involved in the actions taken against –
Interviewer:
What actions were taken?

Rick Thomas:
Okay, well, let’s see.  I believe this was before blockbusting was declared illegal per se.

Interviewer:
That was 1968.

Rick Thomas:
Or was it ’68?

Interviewer:
Uh-huh, because there was a federal suit filed in 1970 in Cherokee.  You know where Cherokee is?

Rick Thomas:
Right.  Okay.  Well, let’s see.  I know that no suits were filed, but I think what happened was – that’s right.  What happened was the real estate committee contacted the realtors who had these agents out here and threatened to sue them, and made it known that they’d informed the authorities and so forth, whoever deals with this, that they were blockbusting, and that they were being watched and so forth.

[0:22:00]

And that’s cut out most of it.  And then –
Interviewer:
Was there any particular agent or real estate company that was there?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, there were about three of ’em that were doing it, and I can’t remember their names now.  I’m sure that’s in the records as well.  And there was the one agent that was using the leaflets was turned over to the Post Office Department.  That’s illegal to put those in the mailboxes, and so they kinda had to call on a technicality, and they were threatened with having to pay all kinds of money I think to the Post Office Department for using the mailboxes.  And so that cut that down.  I think a lot of residents just were so hostile to these people when they came around that that kind of just discouraged it.  Now we had another bout about two or three years ago.

Interviewer:
That would be in about ’76?

Rick Thomas:
Right.  Probably more recent from that.

Interviewer:
’77?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, one of these people could tell you.

[0:23:00]

And it was a little more subtle.  It wasn’t so overt.  And in this case, the real estate board – the Board of Realtors was contacted and the people’s names were turned over to them, and they apparently handle it.  I don’t think anybody lost their license or anything, but I think they –

[Crosstalk]

Interviewer:
Well, I’m sure they could, yeah, they’re very sensitive about it nowadays.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  I don’t think they handled it as expediently as we had hoped, but they did do something, so we we’re pleased with that.

Interviewer:
Well, it’s interesting that in VECA, you seem to handle all these things, and yet in Cherokee, the same tactics were used and people just went wild.  They resented it and were upset, but they also reacted to it and got scared.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  I think that the age of this community and the fact that many of the people in ’69 and ’70 when this was first happening, they had actually built their homes here –
[0:24:00]

and were the only people who’d ever lived in their homes and had much deeper roots in the area.  And a middle-class suburban area like that, especially on that was fairly recent _____, I just can’t imagine it being the same type of identification with the area.

Interviewer:
Well, the area – the new _____ Cherokee were obviously new younger people, ’cause the homes were nicer and it was a new subdivision.  But the older part around it were people who had built their homes and had lived there a long time, but got affected by what went on in the new part.
Rick Thomas:
Right.  I think that the people – I’ve asked myself the same question.  Why was the community able to control this to a certain extent and not face widespread racial turnover and this sorta thing.  Part of it has to do with the nature of the neighborhood and its residents, the fact that they were older.  They were fairly immobile –
[0:25:00]

but they were also highly educated and fairly affluent, and they perhaps had different attitudes, different ideas about what was taking place.  I have to give a lot of credit I think to _____ without drawing attention to myself, to the VECA organization and to the Evergreen News, of which I was an editor for seven years.  Because I think this provided some feeling of communication.  It helped cut down on rumors and just got the facts out and this sorta thing.  And people like my grandmother realized that she wasn’t facing this problem by herself., but there were 13,000 people who were trying to deal with this and they had the same concerns, the same kinda fears about property values and so forth.

Interviewer:
Well, when and how did that get started?

Rick Thomas:
VECA?

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.  And the news.
Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Well, in 1969 –
[0:26:00]

– maybe someone else has already told you another version of this story.

Interviewer:
No, we really haven’t gotten to that.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  In ’69, what happened I think was that there was an organization of ministers – neighborhood ministers of about six or eight churches in the area that would meet on a regular basis.  And when they were meeting, they realized that they had this common problem, that the fact that they were losing members of their congregation, that their enrollment was down and so forth –
Interviewer:
Do you remember who the ministers were?

Rick Thomas:
Well, let’s see.  I don’t think a single one is in the neighborhood – is still in the neighborhood, but the churches involved were Little Flower Catholic Church, Mclain Baptist, Evergreen Presbyterian, I think Baron Hirsch.  I’m not sure.  The Church of the Good Shepherd, I think, and Lindsey Memorial Presbyterian.

[0:27:00]

I think those were the ones.  And, again, someone else will have that information exactly and can tell us who the people were that were involved.

Interviewer:
Who?  Who could tell us that?

Rick Thomas:
Joe Hough probably could, or Margaret Dichel, who’s the present chairman of VECA _____.  She was chairman at that time.  She was the first chairman to serve for five years or something.  And just recently was reelected.  Okay.  And incidentally, I have – if you get a hold of the back issues of the Evergreen News, which I have some here you can dig up a lot of this information.  And, anyhow, they realized that they were losing members of the congregation and started asking why, and they started asking the congregation why.  And they realized that many people were moving out of the neighborhood.  And so they got kind of concern about this and wanted to look at the causes.  And they found out that among other things, black families had moved into the certain parts of the neighborhood.  But –
[0:28:00]

I think, I may be naïve here, but I think that that wasn’t the reason why the people were moving out.  It was kind of a combination of things.  Part of it was the age factor where a number of people were dying or having to move to nursing homes and no longer participated in the community.  Just kinda natural process of changing family structure and moving to suburban areas and this sorta thing.  But whatever the reasons, they noted this turnover in the neighborhood that was not high, but by neighborhood standards, it was high because the area had been so stable.  And so they got together with the other people, some people from Southwestern and other interested neighborhood residents, and set up the Vollintine Evergreen Community Action Association with the goal of – how was it started?  Something like preserving –
[0:29:00]

– no, creating an enhancing a stable biracial community.  And realizing from the very beginning that that’s the route that they were gonna have to go.  So I think one wise decision the people made at this time was not to set up an organization to try to discourage blacks from moving into the neighborhood.  That was seen as inevitable.  But to set up an organization to on the one hand, encourage whites to remain in the neighborhood, and on the other hand, encourage the quotes, right types of blacks to move into the neighborhood.  And this was done pretty successfully.  The –
Interviewer:
What did they do?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  The main thing – probably the crucial thing was to keep track of who’s moving in the neighborhood, finding out what type of people they were, and since they turned out to be good people, making it known that it was middle class professional type blacks that were moving in the neighborhood –
[0:30:00]

the same type blacks were moving into the neighborhood as were the whites that already lived there.  I think that was the main –
Interviewer:
Well, how did you do this?  Through articles in the news?

Rick Thomas:
Right, right.  Through articles.  We had a “Meet Your Neighbor,” article and a list of newcomers and some description about them and maybe just a general article every once in a while about the characteristics of people who moved in to a certain area.
Interviewer:
Well, now did you – when was your first issue?

Rick Thomas:
January 1970.

Interviewer:
And it comes out what?  How often?

Rick Thomas:
It comes out monthly.

Interviewer:
Were you the first editor at that point?

Rick Thomas:
No.  The first two editors were John Bruwiler, and George _____.  And I joined within the first year.  And John and George dropped by the –
[0:31:00]

wayside after four or five years, I guess.  
Interviewer:
Do they still live in the neighborhood?

Rick Thomas:
Right.  Well, Bruwiler – okay.  Bruwiler’s gotten divorced and he lives on Mclain, but outside of Memphis, but not too far away.  His family still lives in the neighborhood.  _____ still lives on _____.  And so I was the primary editor, I guess, from ’74-’75 up to ’77 or ’78 around there.  And now Ann Moore is the editor.

Interviewer:
Do you see it still going on as strongly now or has _____ sort of waning and –

[Break in audio]
Rick Thomas:
Because I would say its success is due mainly to the efforts of a handful of people.  Now maybe this is the way it is everywhere..  The support from the general population of the neighborhood I would say has been at best –
[0:32:00]

indirect and passive.  But I guess the fact that they didn’t oppose the organization was something to be thankful for.  And but the membership rose.  It’s always been fairly high.  Several hundred families have always been on the membership roles, I think.  But you just – but that type of grassroots support wasn’t obvious when it came to any activities.  Although, every month, 100-odd carriers delivered the paper as volunteers.  So that’s probably been the biggest network of participation in the Evergreen News, the people who delivered the newspaper participated in that.  And we’ve gotten a couple hundred people out at political rallies or neighborhood functions.  But I would say it’s mostly been an organization that was successful because of the efforts of a few dedicated people.

Interviewer:
Are there any other organizations in the neighborhood?

[0:33:00]

I know there’s a garden club in Hein Park.

Rick Thomas:
Right.  And there’s in the area right around Baron Hirsch there’s also an organization which whose name I can’t remember.  It’s some type of – I can’t remember it off – it’s – somebody else can probably tell you what it is.  It’s just a few homeowners in the small area up there between Vollintine and _____.

Interviewer:
Like a block club?

Rick Thomas:
Well, it’s larger than that.  And it may even spill over out of the neighborhood.  But I know people who lived in that area around Vollintine and Evergreen around Baron Hirsch _____.

Interviewer:
Is it a new group or an old one?

Rick Thomas:
I think it’s a – it’s not real new.  It’s a few years old, I guess.

Interviewer:
Who could we call to ask about that?

Rick Thomas:
I really can’t remember who’s been –
[0:34:00]

involved in that.  I think Joe Hough could probably tell you.
Interviewer:
Okay.

Rick Thomas:
Also, there’s a community development office has a listing of all the neighborhood organizations.  I don’t know whether you’ve contacted them.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.  We have that book, but sometimes they’re not in there.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.

Interviewer:
Okay.  Well, so what do you see the role of VECA, the organization?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Yeah.  What got us off on this was whether its needs were as great now or what have you.  Well, that’s become apparent in doing this type of work that you have to be unrelenting, that if you let a couple a month go by or six months go by without doing something active to preserve the neighborhood, the lights starts creeping in.  And even –
Interviewer:
Do you think it happens that quickly?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  Well, particularly working with the housing –
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committee, when we tried to keep track of the housing deterioration and the renovation and stuff that was taking place, that and you’d drive there, you’d find certain blocks where just a short period of time, weeks, that several houses had become run down, and it’s almost as if it were contagious.  And for that reason, you have to almost on a daily basis keep up with what’s going on and contact the housing inspectors or –
Interviewer:
How do you handle that?  Of course, we have driven the neighborhood a number of times, and it’s’ true.  All of a sudden, you’ll find one block or a few houses all that look as though they’re not being cared for.

Rick Thomas:
Well, we came up with a fairly effective way of handling that, at least as far as the process goes.  I’m not sure about the outcome.  I think that was – that’s been pretty good as well.  Because of our certain amount of prestige –
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that we had created as a community organization, we were able to get the housing department – I can’t remember the exact name now, the housing inspection department, to work direct with us and try and to deal with some of our deterioration problems.  And apparently it takes weeks or maybe months for the housing department to respond to a complaint about someone whose house is not painted or doors are falling off or something like that.  But we were able to work with them and set up a hotline so to speak, where they would deal with complaints we had immediately, and so we could call one day, and there’d be somebody out there the next checking on it or something like that.  And this is something that they apparently didn’t do for other people.  They just – we bugged ’em so much, I guess, and –
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they felt that we had a certain amount of influence and they agreed to do this.
Interviewer:
Well, what about Vollintine Court.  Surely that has been a problem.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  And I really down know how that stands now.  There was something in this month’s Evergreen News about that, but I wasn’t at the meeting and I really don’t know what the status of that is.  Apparently, they’re being renovated in some way or they’re going to be.  There’s some type of money that – and those were – until the last two or three years, I guess, three or four years maybe, those were pretty substantial apartments.

Interviewer:
What happened to them?

Rick Thomas:
I think whoever was managing them just kind of let ’em run down.  And then this church bought ’em two or three years ago.

Interviewer:
Which church?

Rick Thomas:
All Saints Church or something.  It was a black –
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interdenominational or a nondenominational church, bought ’em.  And for some – they had some deal with HUD to use ’em for low-income housing or some type of subsidized housing, and it fell through in some way.  Somebody didn’t keep their end of the deal and the money was withdrawn and that led to the project being postponed.  And in the meantime, since they were vacant and they became vandalized.

Interviewer:
Does the church still own _____?

Rick Thomas:
I think that’s part of the litigation to see who really owns ’em and where the responsibility lies _____.

Interviewer:
Interesting.  Well, also, the – I guess they’re duplexes or whatever they are, backing up to why Cypress Junior High is.  That whole street is really, really bad.

[0:39:00]

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, but I think it’s better now than it was a couple a years ago.  One person bought ’em all.  This person is Russell Sugarman, a couple a years ago and painted ’em and did some repairs and this sorta thing.  They look a little better now.  I haven’t been in there lately, but they had looked better.  But apparently, they have a lot of trouble with getting debris picked up by the city and stuff don there for some reason, ’cause the rest of the streets, they come like clockwork to my house and I’m three blocks away from there – three or four blocks away.  And for some reason, they don’t get good debris and garbage pick-up and stuff, so everything looks pretty bad.
Interviewer:
Well, now, wouldn’t that be something your organization would take care of?  If that’s the only street, why is that the only street?  ’Cause that street is really –
Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  That area has come up for discussion a lotta times, and various suggestions have been –
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dealt with.  I know the housing inspectors have been called in to look at certain problems out there.  I don’t know with how much success.  And I really don’t know what’s been done as far as the garbage collection, whether anyone’s tried to deal with that.  I do know that when we were working on a neighborhood plan, that part of one of the recommendations was to redevelop that area, so to speak, to encourage someone to buy up all of that and if not actually create something new, to revamp the existing structures and tie ’em together in some way or another to make ’em more attractive.  That’s all been in the talking stage.
Interviewer:
Well, if Russell Sugarman owns them, he’s obviously doing what he wants to do with them at this point.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  But we were thinking in terms of a real developer and not just a slumlord type – a real –
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developer who wanted to – see, there’s a lot of extra land there that’s not even being used between those houses and the creek, and not very expensive land.  And in a location that’s _____ Garden Apartment or something like could be built there.

Interviewer:
Well, I notice the university cavanas and then the buffer – I guess they’re duplexes in front of them, now that doesn’t look bad.  That looks fairly well kept up.

Rick Thomas:
Right.  Yeah.  They’re one of those things that a lot of people were opposed to in the bringing in the late ‘60s, I guess it was when they were built.  But actually, it turned out to be a real benefit, I guess, to the neighborhood.

Interviewer:
In what way?

Rick Thomas:
Well, because we have a couple a thousand –
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med students and dental students and middle class apartment dwellers who like to live in that type of area _____ when that coulda been used perhaps for some other use that was less attractive.  They tried to put a grocery store or a 7-Eleven on that corner for a long time.  The neighborhood has successfully resisted that.  So I think it’s turned out to be a plus in that it gives a good solid population base for that corner of the neighborhood.

Interviewer:
What about crime?  I referred to the article that you wrote, I guess in ’71.  Has you statistics on crime?

Rick Thomas:
I really don’t.  I try to – I did come up with some burglary statistics a few years ago – three or four years, and this was a period when there were a lot of burglaries taking place, and I was trying to determine just –
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how we compared to the rest of the city.  And I really didn’t come up with anything conclusive.  And I think the amount of crime depends on when you’re talking about it, and what part of the neighborhood you’re talking about because it’s cyclical, it seems, that there’ll be a rash of burglaries throughout the area.  Then we’ll go for two years and you won’t hear anybody gets burglarized.  As far as I can tell, it follows the same pattern that any other middle class neighborhood follows, that there’s minor crime waves of certain types and as the neighborhood is discovered.  Then tell discover some other neighborhood for burglaries and purse snatching and this sorta thing.
Interviewer:
What about the rumors of the kids leaving Cypress Junior High, and then going to the creek and around and burglarizing the surrounding area?  Is there any truth to that?

Rick Thomas:
Are these current rumors?

[0:44:00]

Interviewer:
Within the last year.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  I really don’t know.  See, I better qualify some of this.  I’ve been mostly outta town for the last two years, okay, and haven’t – and so my information for ’78-’79 is a little less perfect than it is for the earlier years.  So you might have to get someone else who’s more current on that to help you out.

Interviewer:
Well, what about in the past?  
Rick Thomas:
I’ve never – there’ve probably been isolated incidents like that, but I don’t think it’s anything systematic at all.  There was one year a group of school kids who were vandalizing or burglarizing several houses, but they were caught and as far as I know, that ended that.  I don’t think – I’m sure it happens every once in a while, but I don’t think there’s anything –
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consistent or persistent on anything.

Interviewer:
Okay.  You said you had several students doing some surveys for _____?  Can you share some of that information?

Rick Thomas:
Well, I can in a few days.  I’ve got them in a project on neighborhood _____ in the area, and I’ve got ’em actually doing three different projects as it turns out.  I’ve got three different groups.  One of ’em is doing the same that you’re doing, going to key respondents and asking them certain questions about how people identify with the neighborhood and how things have changed as far as neighborhood interaction over the last few years.  The other two are taking a different approach.  One is doing a participant observation study using four neighborhood businesses and just hanging around as if they were customers and observing the type of interaction that takes place.  Do the clerks know the customers?  Do the customers know each other?  Are they friendly or neutral or –
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just what type of interaction takes place.  And then the other group is doing a household survey, actually interviewing residents out in the neighborhood.  And not only asking them questions about, “Do you identify with the community?”  but also specific questions that aside from their own perceptions would indicate whether they’d participate in the neighborhood, about “How many people do you know on the street?  Do you have relatives who live here?  How often do you talk to your neighborhoods?”  and this sort of thing.  So trying to use three different approaches here to come up with the same or similar types of information just to see how they compare with each other.

Interviewer:
Oh, that’s interesting.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.

Interviewer:
I hope we can get some copies of those.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, sure.  I don’t think it’s gonna be anything you can bet your life on, but I think it’s gonna –
Interviewer:
No, but it would give you a feeling.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  And I think some of the comments from the key respondents might be pretty useful in a report – 
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like you’re doing.

Interviewer:
Mm-hmm.

Interviewer:
When will that be?

Rick Thomas:
Well, it better be in Tuesday or _____ not gonna graduate _____.

Interviewer:
Oh, this is a senior project?

Rick Thomas:
Well, it’s _____ course, and a lot of ’em are seniors _____ class.

Interviewer:
What are courses do you teach?

Rick Thomas:
Well, this is Urban Sociology, and I teach Medical Sociology, Demography, and Introductory Sociology.

Interviewer:
And you’ve taught here how long?

Rick Thomas:
Eight years, but I’m part-time.  I don’t teach full-time.  Been teaching here part-time for eight years.  
Interviewer:
I see.  Do you do other things, too?

Rick Thomas:
Well, for the last two years, I’ve been doing graduate work at Vanderbilt.  That’s why I’ve been mostly out of town.  But now I teach at Memphis State from time to time.  I teach _____ Shelby State.  I do consulting work _____ to keep busy.

Interviewer:
When do you hope to get your degree?  Which degree –
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are you on?

Rick Thomas:
PhD in sociology.
Interviewer:
Uh-huh, from Vanderbilt?

Rick Thomas:
Right.  And I – well, hopefully, say within a year and a half, should _____.

Interviewer:
What are you gonna do your dissertation on?

Rick Thomas:
Well, it looks like it’s gonna be mental illness and coping behavior, something along those lines.  I’ve been doing some research in that area, I’m going to try to extend some of that into a dissertation.

Interviewer:
That sounds interesting.  What do you think makes a good neighborhood?

Rick Thomas:
I think the most essential thing is people who know each other and are willing to interact with each other, even if it’s not necessarily friendly interaction.  But they want to know the people around ’em, and they want to interact with them in one way or another.  They –
[0:49:00]

they’re just not things over there, but they feel like they’re persons to be reckoned with.  And I think that this neighborhood is – some people say, “Well, that’s a little too nosiness.  Too much neighborliness.”  I think this neighborhood has really presented to my mind the best blend of this, that if you wanted friends, you wanted neighbors to interact with, they were there, and they were ready to do it.  But if you wanted to be left alone, it also had this big city aspect.  People aren’t gonna bother you.  They’re not gonna come over and complain about what you’re doing or get nosy.  So it’s been a good combination _____.  But I think the key ingredient is people who know each other, who are willing to deal with each other.  And just for my own personal experience, every once in a while, it’s really brought home to me like last year, I ran out of gas down here on Mclain, and I was getting ready to walk down to the service station and three people I knew –
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who were driving home from work or driving somewhere, stopped and asked if – at three different – independently asked if I needed help, or when I was – five years ago, I got married, and I went down to the grocery store into the bakery and stuff, and everybody down there knew that I was getting ready to get married before many of my friends knew.
Interviewer:
Which grocery store?

Rick Thomas:
It’s the one that’s out of business now, right down by the Southwestern _____.

Interviewer:
What grocery store was that?

Rick Thomas:
Well, at the time, it was Guy’s Grocery, I think.  Then more recently, it’s been – it was Great Star Supermarket.  And it was a Chinese couple, and she just died and he closed up the store and he couldn’t – really didn’t feel like running it after she died.
Interviewer:
Is that the gift store now?

Rick Thomas:
No.  It’s at the other end of that block of stores.

Interviewer:
Is it still vacant now?

[0:51:00]

Rick Thomas:
Right.  It’s for lease now.  But, yeah, that’s another thing, the grocery stores, the drug store –
Interviewer:
Which drug store?

Rick Thomas:
Bores.  It’s the only drug store left.  It used to be three.  All these have charge accounts and they deliver.  Bosie would take – if it was snowing, he personally would carry groceries down to my grandmother and that sort of thing.  So this type of – 

Interviewer:
What were the other drug stores now that were gone?

Rick Thomas:
There was Southwestern Drug Store, which is where the gift shop is.

Interviewer:
Who ran that?  Do you remember?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, it was – okay.  It changed hands several times.  I can’t remember any of the other people’s names.  One of the owner’s daughter played with my daughter and –
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I should remember that one, but I don’t.  It escapes me.  There was also another drug store on Mclain sort of.  It was a sundry store.  It was where that Flippin Brothers Piano place is now.  It’s Exxon, and there’s a little row of stores, key maker, barber shop, a beauty shop, and then this piano place.  That was a kind of a sundry store, but she also sold drugs and beer.  She had a beer license and sold beer over the soda fountain.  She died about three or four years ago.  And a lot of the neighborhood old timers would go in there in the afternoon for a beer or something, something like that.

Interviewer:
So you think it’s kind of important for a neighborhood to have neighborhood commercial establishments that give a little personal services, and where you know the people and that sorta thing.

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, I think you could – maybe you could have a neighborhood without it if you had all the people who lived there interacting and so forth.  But it –
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certainly seems to help.  It sure does.

Interviewer:
’Cause this neighborhood does have a lot of little shopping areas in it.

Rick Thomas:
Right.  And the one down on Vollintine it was also a drug store down here, Carol Drugs, and it’s become kind of deteriorated now, and it doesn’t have the same feeling that say up here at Jackson and Evergreen has.  But for a long time, it was the same type of area.  And, in fact, many people come back from out east who moved away, children of people who used to live here, come back to Evangelistic Grocery Store down on Vollintine and come back to Bosie’s Grocery Store because they have a certain item that they can’t get out east, certain vegetables that they like.  So there’s still a lot of that _____.
Interviewer:
You said _____ trend where people whose parents lived here and they’re –
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young adults now and they’re moving back?  Is that right?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah.  And I don’t wanna say everybody’s like that that moves in the neighborhood, but you could find a large number of people who had relatives before them who lived here.

Interviewer:
You said you left the neighborhood when you were about eight.  Did you go to any of the neighborhood schools _____?

Rick Thomas:
I went to Vollintine for two and a half years.  And my father went to Vollintine before me.  And my daughter almost went to Vollintine, but they wouldn’t – she couldn’t go when she was five, so she went to a private school.  So we woulda had three generations there.  Although, my stepson, also, went to Vollintine, okay?  So we have – if we cheat a little bit, we got three generations.

Interviewer:
Where’s your daughter in school?

Rick Thomas:
Miss Lee’s.
Interviewer:
Where is that?

Rick Thomas:
It’s on Peabody near Graceland.  It’s Miss Lee’s School of Childhood.

[0:55:00]

Interviewer:
What do you think about the neighborhood schools?

Rick Thomas:
I’m really not up on that now.  I just couldn’t say.  I know they’ve had a lot of problems like are common to all the schools, but apparently, they’ve held their own.  This Snowden program is apparently doing real well.  It’s a college preparatory program they have in the junior high there.  And I haven’t heard all the horror stories lately that you used to hear about the schools, but I really don’t know.  And VECA does have an education committee.  I think they could probably take care of that.

Interviewer:
What other committees does VECA have?  You don’t happen to have a list of who’s on what committee do you?

Rick Thomas:
No, because as I say, I’ve been pretty much out of touch for the last couple years.  There’s a long-range planning committee which I’m on, so I know about that one.  There’s a housing committee, which Joe _____ I think heads.  I don’t know who’s on the education committee now.  Let’s see.
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There’s an communications committee which I think the editor of the Evergreen News would be the head of.  And I really don’t know what other committees there are now.

Interviewer:
Well, thank you very much.

[Break in audio]

Is there any other way Southwestern is involved in the neighborhood?

Rick Thomas:
Well, from the very first day – very first meeting of the VECA organizational meeting, numerous Southwestern faculty members and staff members and people otherwise connected, they participated.  But as surprisingly enough, the first formal ties between Southwestern and VECA didn’t come till about 1975 or ’76 when Southwestern actually set up a liaison committee to work with the neighborhood and to make sure that they had plenty of facilities to use here and some –
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workspace and maybe some secretarial help or that sorta thing.  I think this took place at the time that Southwestern was developing its 10-year plan or 20-year plan or what have you, and one of their goals was to become more involved in the community, the immediate community as well as the larger city.  So part of that had to do with setting up this committee to work with the neighborhood.  But even prior to that, we certainly had Southwestern’s blessing and we used their light tables and facilities for putting the Evergreen News together.  And they would print it for us at cost and this sorta thing.  So they certainly in many indirect and informal ways have contributed to the organization.
Interviewer:
We’ve heard about the _____ program.  Do you know what the _____ like that?

Rick Thomas:
Well, I know a little bit about it.  It’s a volunteer program for students to –
[0:58:00]

to work on various projects out in the city.  Some of this I think has been named, but most of it has not.  I believe there as a – I believe Mike Herby in political science set up some type of adopt-a-house program, and I believe some _____ student participants worked with elderly people or whoever who needed their house fixed up.  But most of the Kinny projects have not been able to make it..
Interviewer:
You also mentioned – we were talking about Carl’s Bakery.  And you said that John, who was with the bakery – whose bakery it was before is now working for _____?

Rick Thomas:
I’m just guessing _____.  It’s some large bakery operation.

Interviewer:
Does he live in the neighborhood?

Rick Thomas:
I don’t know.  Now for years, Southwestern Grill was run by a couple of –
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Greek brothers who both lived in the neighborhood.  And as far as I know, they still might live there.  So up until about four or five years ago when it became Dino’s Southwestern Grill, an Italian bought it from the Greeks, it was run by a Greek family from the neighborhood.

Interviewer:
Are there any other businesses that are particularly identified with the neighborhood that you can even remember from being a child?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Well, certainly the Bosie operation has long ties, and Bosie, I think moved out of the neighborhood two years ago.  But up to that time, he’s lived there.  And, in fact, when my grandmother died, as I referred to earlier, the Bosie boys bought her house a couple years ago.  Let’s see.

Interviewer:
Now who lives in the house now?  Which –
Rick Thomas:
They rent it out.

Interviewer:
They rent it.

Rick Thomas:
They bought it as a rental property.  It’s a duplex I was talking about earlier.  Let’s see –
[1:00:00]

Interviewer:
Is there much rental property in the neighborhood?  Do you see that happening?

Rick Thomas:
There’s more now than there used to be, but it’s still negligible, a fraction of the total housing units.  We feel like we got a very good mix of housing types in the neighborhood.  Approximately 60 percent are single-family detached dwellings, another 15 percent of duplexes, an another 15 percent are apartment complexes.  And what we’ve done on the neighborhood plan we’ve tried to make sure that we kept that same mix of housing.  Just driving around, you probably wouldn’t realize that 30 percent of the units in apartments are duplexes ’cause they’re so well disguised in many cases.

Interviewer:
That’s true.  But I see that some people will live in a house –
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and when they move to the suburbs, instead of selling the house, sometimes they rent it.  Do you see that happening?

Rick Thomas:
Occasionally, but it’s not widespread.  It’s not widespread.


[Break in audio]

[Crosstalk]


Well, I think you should probably talk to Joe Hough and that he can give you a play-by-play description of all the suits and hearings and what have you that _____ involved in, mostly with a pretty good success record.  Most of these were defensive-type actions after the city attempted to rezone a corner, or take up the median strips, medians strips on Jackson or something like that.  And that’s one reason we’ve been trying to develop a neighborhood plan so that we can be much more offensive and just not have to react to these things as they come up.  But Joe Hough –
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probably could give you a good – 

Interviewer:
This is your long-range planning committee that you’re on.

Rick Thomas:
Right.

Interviewer:
Have you come up with any ideas at this point, or are you just in the beginning stages?

Rick Thomas:
No, we’re about at the point of having a completed plan.  And, again, I’ve been away for a while, and I don’t know how it stands.  I worked on some of the demographic characteristics just a everywhere months ago, and I think we’re –
Interviewer:
Have you got any of that information that we could look at?

Rick Thomas:
Yeah, sure.

Interviewer:
Okay.  Thank you.


[Break in audio]

What did you use to research this demographic report on?

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  Much of that comes from the 1970 Census, which, of course, is dated by now.  But the city, through the community development office, has updated some of that – some of the figures through various techniques they have.  And then I –
Interviewer:
You got your information then from the city?

Rick Thomas:
Most of it, but then I – I don’t remember what all’s in there, but I think I probably –
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calculated some things such as proportion black based on voting characteristics and this sort of thing, various techniques for computing this sort of thing.  I think all the sources are clearly stated in there.
Interviewer:
Oh, good.  All right.  This will be wonderful.  Thank you.


[Break in audio]

72.

Rick Thomas:
Okay.  There was an article in the Evergreen News concerning one family that had moved several houses around the neighborhood for various reasons, and it was kind of humorous, the procedure they followed in choosing houses and the movements that took place.

Interviewer:
I wonder if they’re still in the neighborhood.

Rick Thomas:
I think – no, someone – some Southwestern students bought their house about three years ago, graduates.  They live out east now, I think.  But they’re quite –
[End of Audio]
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